RECEIVED

Aug 23 2022

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Common Pleas

APPEAL FROM Horry COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Robert E. Hood, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No.: 2022-000031

Royal Garden Resort Regime Homeowners Association, Inc. Respondent

v.

Sea Breeze Property Management & Contract Services, Inc.; Calvin Donaldson;
and Phoenix of the Strand, Inc. Appellants,

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

DOUGLAS M. ZAYICEK
HOLLY M. LUSK
BELLAMY, RUTENBERG, COPELAND,
EPPS, GRAVELY & BOWERS, P.A.
Post Office Box 357
Myrtle Beach, South Carolina 29578-0357
843-448-2400
Attorneys for Appellants
Sea Breeze Property Management & Contract Services,

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. WHETHER THE CIRCUIT COURT MAY ENTER A MANDATORY INJUNCTION AGAINST APPELLANTS WHEN RESPONDENT HAS FAILED TO SATISFY THE STANDARD FOR SUCH RELIEF, AS IS ESTABLISHED BY RULE 65 OF THE SOUTH CAROLINA RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE AND SOUTH CAROLINA COMMON LAW.**

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The lawsuit underlying this appeal primarily concerns disputes over management of the Royal Garden Resort, which is located at 1210 N. Waccamaw Drive, Murrells Inlet, South Carolina 29576, and ownership of various units and elements therein. The Respondent in this case, Royal Garden Resort Regime Homeowners Association, Inc. (“HOA”), is the homeowners association for the Royal Garden Resort. Appellant Phoenix of the Strand, Inc. (“Phoenix”) is the owner of various units and common elements within the Royal Garden Resort. Appellant Sea Breeze Property Management & Contract Services, Inc. (“Sea Breeze”) was the property manager hired by Respondent HOA to manage the Royal Garden Resort property for more than twenty (20) years until on or around December 31, 2018. (R. pp. 90, 93, 127). Appellant Calvin Donaldson is the president of both Appellant Phoenix and Appellant Sea Breeze. (R. p. 149).

On June 12, 1984, Royal Garden Resort, Inc. created the Royal Garden Horizontal Property Regime (the “Regime”) by virtue of a Master Deed, which was recorded in the Horry County Register of Deeds on June 13, 1984, in Deed Book 875 at page 638 (hereinafter, the “Master Deed”). (R. p. 95). The Regime consists of three (3) commercial condominium units and 206 residential units in fifteen (15) floors, as well as general common elements and limited common elements assigned to specific condominium units. (R. p. 95).

Of the three (3) commercial units within the Regime, Commercial Unit One (1) and Commercial Unit Two (2) are located on the second floor, and Commercial Unit Three (3) is on

the ground floor. (R. pp. 95-96). Commercial Unit One (1) includes the lobby, front desk, and offices adjacent to the lobby. (R. p. 96). Commercial Unit Two (2) consists of the area delineated as such on the Regime Plans and includes the kitchen, dining area, lounge, and restrooms of the Regime. (R. p. 96). Commercial Unit Two (2) also exclusively includes the following limited common elements of the Regime: the trash chutes and storage rooms (supply closets) on every floor of the building, and eight (8) “honeycombs”¹ on the ground floor of the building. (R. p. 96). Commercial Unit Three (3) consists of the area delineated as such on the Regime Plans and includes the area on the ground floor described as “Comm. III” on the Regime Plans. (R. p. 96).

Since 1990, Appellant Phoenix has owned Commercial Unit Two (2) and Commercial Unit Three (3) within the Regime. (R. pp. 4, 9, 140). Although Respondent HOA challenged Appellant Phoenix’s ownership of Commercial Unit Two (2), by Order entered on November 8, 2019, the Circuit Court held Appellant Phoenix is and has been the record fee simple owner of Commercial Unit Two (2) since 1990. (R. pp. 4, 9). As stated above, Commercial Unit Two (2) is comprised of various common elements of the Regime, including the storage rooms/supply closets on every floor of the building (which are the units contemplated by the parties’ Storage Facility Agreement discussed below) and eight “honeycombs” on the ground floor of the building, which include Commercial Unit Three (3). (R. p. 96).

Respondent HOA owns Commercial Unit One (1). (R. p. 140). However, Respondent HOA began leasing Commercial Unit One (1) to Appellant Sea Breeze in 1989 and has extended the term of such lease through 2046. (See R. p. 140, 303-309, 312-313). Therefore, Appellants either own or control all three commercial units within the Regime.

¹ The Regime Plans indicate the eight (8) “honeycombs” that are a part of Commercial Unit Two (2) are as follows: three (3) honeycombs are walk-throughs or hallways, one (1) of the honeycombs is Commercial Unit Three (3), and the remaining four (4) honeycombs are general common areas. (R. pp. 96-97).

In or around 2012, Respondent HOA sought to lease Appellant Phoenix's storage units, which are a part of Commercial Unit Two (2), for the purpose of placing Time Warner Cable switch boxes therein. (See R. pp. 99, 314). Therefore, on February 1, 2012, Respondent HOA entered into a Storage Facility Agreement with Appellant Phoenix, wherein Appellant Phoenix agreed to lease to Respondent HOA fifteen (15) storage units on each walkway in the building in exchange for Respondent HOA's payment to Appellant Phoenix of \$255.00 per month. (See R. p. 314). The Storage Facility Agreement has not been terminated to-date. (See R. p. 314).

Respondent HOA filed this lawsuit on October 25, 2018.² Respondent's Third Amended Complaint generally asserts claims seeking: (1) a declaratory judgment determining ownership of various units and common areas within the Regime, (2) damages concerning Appellant Sea Breeze's management of the Regime property and collection of HOA dues; and (3) injunctive relief, including, but not limited to enjoining Appellants from interrupting any telecommunications, cable television, or internet services at the Regime. (See R. pp. 124-135). The Third Amended Complaint does not include a cause of action to rescind or otherwise terminate the Storage Facility Agreement. (See R. pp. 124-135). The Third Amended Complaint also does not seek a declaratory judgment concerning ownership or right to access or use the storage units contemplated by the Storage Facility Agreement. (See R. pp. 124-135).

On February 1, 2019, Respondent HOA's Board sent Appellant Phoenix written notice that it would no longer be paying rent for use of the storage units at issue in the Storage Facility Agreement. (See R. p. 315). The cable television equipment for the Resort is stored within these storage units and remains undisturbed in such units to-date. However, as a result of Respondent

² Respondent HOA has amended its complaint in this lawsuit three times.

HOA's failure to pay rent pursuant to the terms of the parties' Storage Facility Agreement, Appellant Phoenix has not allowed to Respondent HOA to access the storage units at issue.

On April 28, 2021, Respondent HOA filed a motion entitled "Motion to Allow Entry." (See R. pp. 189-190). Respondent HOA's Motion to Allow Entry seeks "an Order of the Court barring [Appellants] from charging Plaintiff to use the access and/or supply closets for cabling and other telephone equipment necessary to provide cable tv services to the entire Resort." (R. p. 190). Although it is not labeled as such, the relief Respondent HOA's Motion to Allow Entry requests is that of a mandatory injunction. (R. pp. 189-190). Respondent HOA did not include in its Motion support for any of the three elements required by courts in order to grant injunctive relief.³ (R. pp. 189-190).

Respondent HOA's Motion to Allow Entry was before the Circuit Court for hearing on August 4, 2021. (See R. p. 218). Present at the August 4, 2021 hearing were Kirby D. Shealy, III and Gene M. Connell, Jr., attorneys for Respondent HOA, and Douglas M. Zayicek, attorney for Appellants. (R. p. 218). At the hearing, counsel for Respondent HOA argued it should be allowed to enter and access Appellant Phoenix's storage closets because the HOA has decided it wants to switch cable television providers from Spectrum to Horry Telephone Cooperative ("HTC"). (R. pp. 236-240). In other words, Respondent HOA sought an order requiring Appellant Phoenix to allow Respondent HOA and HTC to enter the storage closets, to rip out and install a new cable television system without having to comply with the parties' Storage Facility Agreement (i.e., without paying Appellant Phoenix rent pursuant to the contract's terms). (R. pp. 236-240).

During the hearing, counsel for Respondent HOA did not present any evidence or set any forth arguments as to the necessity of changing cable television providers or having the work done

³ See infra pp. 12-16.

by HTC. (R. pp. 236-240). Respondent HOA also did not present evidence demonstrating it would be harmed if it were not allowed access to the storage units. (R. pp. 236-240). In fact, Respondent HOA did not set forth any arguments whatsoever in support of the necessary elements for a grant of injunctive relief (i.e., Respondent HOA did not even attempt to demonstrate: (a) it would be irreparably harmed if not for entry of the injunction it sought, (b) a likelihood of success on the merits of its underlying claims, or (c) that it did not have an adequate remedy at law). (R. pp. 236-240). Although counsel for Appellants raised the issue of Respondent HOA's requirement, under Rule 65 of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure ("SCRCF"), to pay a bond as security for a grant of injunctive relief, counsel for Respondent HOA did not offer or agree to do so and Judge Hood similarly did not comment on the issue of bond. (R. pp. 238-240).

On September 15, 2021, Judge Hood granted Respondent HOA's Motion to Allow Entry, ordering, "[Appellants] shall, within ten (10) days of the date of this Order provide access to the storage closets on each of the floors (1-16) of the Royal Garden Resort, and, further, that [Appellants] shall provide keys to each of the storage closets on those floors (1-16) for the purpose of allowing Horry Telephone Cooperative to begin the installation process." (R. p. 84). The Court's September 15, 2021 Order Granting Respondent HOA's Motion to Allow Entry contains no security (bond) requirement. (R. pp. 83-85). The September 15, 2021 Order further contains no findings of fact or conclusions of law supporting a finding that: (1) Respondent HOA would suffer irreparable harm if the injunctive relief had not been granted; (2) that Respondent HOA would likely succeed on the merits of the underlying litigation; and (3) that Respondent HOA had no adequate remedy at law. (R. pp. 83-85). None of the above three (3) pre-requisites to a grant of injunctive relief are mentioned within either Respondent HOA's Motion or the September 15, 2021 Order granting such Motion. (See R. pp. 83-85, 189-191).

On September 21, 2021, Appellants filed a Motion to Reconsider, or Alter or Amend the Court's September 15, 2021 Order seeking the Court reconsider, alter, or amend its decision ordering Appellants to allow Respondent HOA to access Appellants' storage closets without paying the rent required by the parties' Storage Facility Agreement, or, at the very least, without a bond requirement. (R. pp. 200-203). The grounds for Appellants' Motion to Reconsider were that Respondent HOA's Motion to Allow Entry, regardless of how it was labeled, was, in reality, a Motion for Mandatory Injunction. (R. p. 200). Accordingly, Respondent HOA was required to demonstrate all elements entitling it to injunctive relief under South Carolina law and a bond should have been required pursuant to Rule 65(c), SCRCP. (R. pp. 201-203).

Respondent HOA filed a Response opposing Appellants' Motion to Reconsider on October 13, 2021. (R. pp. 214-215). In its Response, Respondent HOA did not address any of Appellants' arguments regarding the pre-requisites to obtaining injunctive relief; rather, it stated, in a conclusory fashion, that the Court's September 15, 2021 was proper and no bond was necessary. (R. p. 214). By Form 4 Order entered on December 30, 2021, the Court denied Appellants' Motion to Reconsider without any substantive discussion thereof. (R. pp. 87).

On January 10, 2022, Appellants filed their Notice of Appeal herein. Appellants now file this brief seeking the reversal of the Circuit Court's September 15, 2021 Order Granting Respondent HOA's Motion to Allow Entry and December 30, 2021 Form 4 Order Denying Appellants' Motion to Reconsider.⁴

⁴ This appeal seeks the reversal of both the Circuit Court's September 15, 2021 Order Granting Respondent HOA's Motion to Allow Entry and the Circuit Court's December 30, 2021 Form 4 Order Denying Appellants' Motion to Reconsider. However, for purposes of brevity, any time Appellants refer to the Circuit Court's error in granting Respondent HOA's Motion to Allow Entry by Order dated September 15, 2021, Appellants also include by reference Appellants allegation that the Circuit Court further erred in denying Appellants' subsequent Motion to Reconsider by Form 4 Order dated December 30, 2021.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

From review of South Carolina common law, there appears to be two different standards concerning an appellate court's review of a lower court's issuance of an injunction. In some equitable actions concerning injunctions, the South Carolina Court of Appeals has held it has jurisdiction to find facts in accordance with its own view of the preponderance of the evidence. See Lefurgy v Long Cove Owners Ass'n, 313 S.C. 555, 557, 443 S.E.2d 577, 578 (Ct. App. 1994) (citing Blanks v. Rawson, 296 S.C. 110, 370 S.E.2d 890 (Ct. App. 1988) and Tiger, Inc. v. Fisher Agro, Inc., 301 S.C. 229, 391 S.E.2d 538 (1989)); see also Ray v. City of Rock Hill, 428 S.C. 358, 368, 834 S.E.2d 464, 469 (Ct. App. 2019) (quoting (Denman v. City of Columbia, 387 S.C. 131, 140, 691 S.E.2d 465, 470 (2010)) ("In equitable actions, an appellate court may review the record and make findings of fact in accordance with its own view of the preponderance of the evidence.")).

In other cases concerning appellate court review of injunctions granted by lower courts, the South Carolina Court of Appeals has held the grant of an injunction will not be reversed absent an abuse of discretion. See AJG Holdings, LLC v. Dunn, 382 S.C. 43, 48-49, 674 S.E.2d 505, 507 (Ct. App. 2009) (citing City of Columbia v. Pic-A-Flick Video, Inc., 340 S.C. 278, 282, 531 S.E.2d 518, 520-21 (2000) and Peek v. Spartanburg Reg'l Healthcare Sys., 367 S.C. 450, 454, 626 S.E.2d 34, 36 (Ct. App. 2005) (Ct. App. 2005)). Under the abuse of discretion standard, a decision of the Circuit Court may be reversed when such decision is unsupported by the evidence or controlled by an error of law. Dunn, 382 S.C. at 49, 674 S.E.2d at 507 (citing Peek, 367 S.C. at 454, 626 S.E.2d at 36 and County of Richland v. Simpkins, 348 S.C. 664, 668, 560 S.E.2d 902, 904 (Ct. App. 2002)).

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the facts and arguments set forth herein demonstrate the lower court erred, and its September 15, 2021 Order Granting Respondent HOA's Motion to Allow

Entry and December 30, 2021 Form 4 Order denying Appellants' Motion to Reconsider should be reversed, under application of either standard.

ARGUMENT

I. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN GRANTING A MANDATORY INJUNCTION AGAINST APPELLANTS AND IN DENYING APPELLANTS' SUBSEQUENT MOTION TO RECONSIDER.

A. The Circuit Court Erred In Granting A Mandatory Injunction Against Appellants In the Absence of Respondent Satisfying the Requisite Standard For a Grant of Such Equitable Relief.

The Circuit Court's September 15, 2021 Order Granting Respondent HOA's Motion to Allow Entry and subsequent December 30, 2021 Form 4 Order Denying Appellants' Motion to Reconsider should be reversed because Respondent HOA failed to demonstrate: (1) Respondent HOA would suffer irreparable harm if the injunction was not granted; (2) Respondent HOA will likely succeed on the merits of the underlying litigation; and (3) Respondent HOA has no adequate remedy at law.

A plaintiff's complaint must allege facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action for injunction and demonstrate it is reasonably necessary to protect the legal rights of the plaintiff pending in the action. Dunn, 382 S.C. at 50-51, 674 S.E.2d at 508 (internal citations omitted). In order for an injunction to be granted, the plaintiff must demonstrate: (1) it would suffer irreparable harm if the injunction is not granted; (2) it will likely succeed on the merits of the litigation; and (3) there is an inadequate remedy at law. Dunn, 382 S.C. at 51, 674 S.E.2d at 508 (internal citations omitted), Peek, 367 S.C. at 454, 626 S.E.2d at 36 (internal citations omitted).

The purpose of a temporary injunction is to preserve the status quo in a case while litigation is pending. Zabinski v. Bright Acres Associates, 346 S.C. 580, 601, 553 S.E.2d 110, 121 (2001), County Council of Charleston v. Felkel, 244 S.C. 480, 484, 137 S.E.2d 577, 578 (1964) ("The sole

object of a temporary injunction is to preserve the subject of controversy in the condition which it is at the time of the Order until opportunity is offered for full and deliberate investigation and to preserve the existing status during litigation.”), Dunn, 382 S.C. at 51, 674 S.E.2d at 509, Peek, 367 S.C. at 455, 626 S.E.2d at 37; see also JAMES F. FLANAGAN, SOUTH CAROLINA CIVIL PROCEDURE 511 (2nd ed., 1996) (“A temporary injunction preserves the status quo pending the completion of the case.”). “An injunction is a drastic remedy issued by the court in its discretion to prevent irreparable harm suffered by the plaintiff.” Dunn, 382 S.C. at 50, 674, S.E.2d at 509 (internal quotation omitted). Because injunctive relief is an extreme remedy, it should be cautiously applied. See Scratch Golf Co. v. Dunes Residential Golf Props, Inc., 361 S.C. 117, 603 S.E.2d 905 (2004), Lefurgy, 313 S.C. at 558, 443 S.E.2d at 578).

When an injunction compels the performance of an affirmative act in order to undo an alleged wrong, it changes the status quo, rather than preserving the status quo. Such an injunction is a mandatory injunction, which is “*an especially drastic remedy and is rarely granted.*” Johnson v. Phillips, 315 S.C. 407, 417, 433 S.E.2d 895, 901 (Ct. App. 1993) (*rev’d in part on other grounds by* Smith v. Phillips, 318 S.C. 453, 458 S.E.2d 427 (1995)) (citing Forest Land Co. v. Black, 216 S.C. 255, 57 S.E.2d 420 (1950)) (emphasis added).

Despite how Respondent HOA’s Motion to Allow Entry was labeled and presented to the Circuit Court, Respondent HOA’s Motion seeks nothing short of a mandatory injunction in this case because it seeks an order requiring Appellants to allow Respondent HOA and third parties to enter onto Appellant Phoenix’s property to rip out, replace, and install new cable television boxes (i.e., an affirmative action that changes the status quo rather than preserving it). (See R. pp. 189-191). A mandatory injunction is thus exactly what the Circuit Court granted against Appellants in its September 15, 2021 Order Granting Respondent HOA’s Motion to Allow Entry. However, the

Circuit Court erred in doing so because Respondent HOA has utterly failed to demonstrate any of the elements required by South Carolina law before a party is entitled to injunctive relief. The Circuit Court thus also failed in denying Appellants' Motion to Reconsider by Form 4 Order dated December 30, 2021.

1. **Respondent HOA Has Not Alleged Sufficient Facts Within Its Complaint To Set Forth A Valid Cause of Action for Mandatory Injunction Concerning Access and Use of Appellant Phoenix's Storage Units.**

Respondent HOA's Third Amended Complaint does not allege facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action for a mandatory injunction requiring Appellants to allow Respondent HOA and/or third parties to enter onto Appellant Phoenix's property to rip out, replace, and install new cable television boxes. Additionally, Respondent HOA's Third Amended Complaint does not allege facts sufficient to demonstrate such a mandatory injunction is reasonably necessary to protect Respondent HOA's legal rights. Respondent HOA's Third Amended Complaint contains only two conclusory sentences on this issue, which are, as follows:

The [Respondent] further asks for a mandatory injunction enjoining the [Appellants] from interrupting any telecommunications, cable television[,], or internet services on the property...

The [Respondent] requests the Court immediately issue such an emergency injunction as such is necessary for the Plaintiff to continue its ongoing business as an Association and without this documentation, records, and other items listed above[,], [Respondent] Association will be unable to operate the real property.

(R. p. 126). The above is clearly insufficient to demonstrate why or how a mandatory injunction is necessary to prevent irreparable injury in this case, and clearly and expressly shows that Respondent HOA was asking the Court for injunctive relief in its Motion to Allow Entry, despite failing to label its motion as such. Respondent HOA has not alleged Appellants have interrupted

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