THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

APPEAL FROM Horry COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Robert E. Hood., Circuit Court Judge
Case No. 2018-CP-26-06033

Appellate Case No. 2022-000031

RECEIVED

AUG 25 2022

SC Court of Appeals

Royal Garden Resort Regime Homeowners Association, Inc. Respondent

vs.

Sea Breeze Property Management & Contract Services, Inc.; Calvin Donaldson;
and Phoenix of the Strand, Inc. Appellants

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Gene M. Connell, Jr. (S.C. Bar No. 1358)
KELAHER, CONNELL & CONNOR, P.C.
The Courtyard, Suite 209
1500 U. S. Highway 17 North
Post Office Drawer 14547
Surfside Beach, South Carolina 29587-4547
(843) 238-5648 (phone)

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

ARGUMENT

I. THE CIRCUIT COURT HAD AMPLE EVIDENCE TO GRANT THE ROYAL GARDEN HOA RELIEF.

In support of its motion to allow it to access the storage closets on each floor of the Royal Garden Resort, the HOA offered the following evidence:

A. The Master Deed.

The Circuit Court was presented with a filed copy of the Master Deed for Royal Garden Resort Regime Homeowners Association. Article IX, Section 2 of the Master Deed (R. p. 268) states as follows:

There is hereby granted an easement subject to the regulations and requirements of the Board of Directors of Association upon, across, over and under all of the Property for ingress, egress, installations, replacing, repairing and maintaining a master television antenna system and all utilities including, but not limited to, water, gas, sewers, telephones and electricity. Such easements grant to appropriate utility companies the right to erect and maintain the necessary poles and other necessary equipment on the Property and to affix and maintain utility wires, circuits, and conduits on, above, across and under the roofs and exterior walls of the Units.

Clearly under Article IX, Section 2 of the Master Deed, the HOA had the express legal authority to use any portion of the Royal Garden Resort to run cabling and/or other equipment for telephones, television and internet services. The pertinent portion of the Master Deed is found at ROA p. 268.³

B. Prior Cable Communications Easement.

Defendant Donaldson, acting as property manager for the HOA, had previously granted with permission by HOA a Time Warner Cable Communications Easement. This easement was filed in the Horry County Register of Deeds Office February 7, 2006 and provided:

Hereby grants, bargains and sells to Grantee, its agents, successors and assigns, a perpetual nonexclusive easement for the construction, operation and maintenance of cable communications facilities including without limitation, wires, conduit, connectors and related equipment installed or to be installed from time to time with a right to reconstruct, improve, add to or remove any such facilities, and the right to ingress and egress to the premises at all times, this easement shall be for the benefit of the Grantee..
(R. p. 310).

³ Significantly, Appellants do not contest this or any portion of the Master Deed or argue that it is invalid or violates public policy.

The significance of the Cable Communications Easement is that it was signed by Donaldson as Property Manager for the HOA in 2006 and provided a blanket easement over the Royal Garden Resort for the same type of cable equipment that Donaldson now objects to, and which is currently in the same storage closets, and which benefits both the homeowners, Donaldson and his businesses.

C. Supplemental Affidavit of Daniel W. Stacy, Jr.

The HOA also presented the July 30, 2021 Affidavit of Daniel W. Stacy, Jr., an attorney specializing in real estate law which includes real estate closings, preparing master deeds, condominium association bylaws and the like. Stacy stated in his Affidavit that he had reviewed the Phoenix of the Strand's motion for partial summary judgment in regard to an alleged lease it had for certain storage facilities at Royal Garden Resort. (R. p. 192).

Stacy further opined that Article IX Section 2 of the Royal Garden Resort Regime HOA Master Deed had granted an express easement over and under all property for ingress, egress, installations, replacing, repairing and maintaining a master television antenna and all utilities including but not limited to water, gas, sewer, telephones and electricity. (R. p. 193).

Stacy also opined that because the Master Deed controlled, any contract entered into by the HOA and Sea Breeze for the leasing of such storage facilities was *void ab initio* since HOA had a blanket easement over the entire project for utilities and thus was not required to pay lease payments to Donaldson. (R.193).

Stacy also noted in his affidavit that the storage room agreement was for replacement of a telephone switchbox, however this agreement was void because HOA already had a blanket easement to provide for any telephone, television, and internet communications equipment. (R. p. 193). Stacy's opinion to a reasonable degree of legal certainty was that the Master Deed at the Royal Garden Resort Regime HOA, specifically Article IX Section 2, controls and that the leases for the storage facility

agreements dated February 1, 2012 along with the storage room agreement dated March 6, 1995 was of no force and effect. (R. p. 194). This affidavit was unopposed by Donaldson and the other Defendants at the hearing.

D. Affidavit of Stephen Hunt, Sr.

The August 2, 2021 Affidavit of Stephen Hunt, Jr., the Property Manager at Royal Garden Resort HOA, was presented. Hunt opined that he had reviewed both the Storage Facility Agreement dated February 1, 2012 and the Storage Room Agreement dated March 6, 1995. Hunt stated in his affidavit that the telephone switchboard referenced in the 1995 Storage Room Agreement was not operated by Phoenix of the Strand and is not located on property owned or leased to Phoenix. (R. p. 197).

Hunt further stated that the switchboard had previously been in the Sea Breeze office but that the switchboard was moved by a prior HOA manager to the Royal Garden Resort HOA office December 2018 and was not in use. (R. p. 198).

Hunt further opined that Section IX (2) of the Master Deed provided the HOA had the authority to use any portion of the building to run television, telephone or internet computer lines. (R. p. 198).

E. Stephen Hunt's Affidavit of September 28, 2021.

After the trial court issued its order allowing replacement of the television, telephone and internet boxes in the storage closets, Sea Breeze, Donaldson and Phoenix filed a motion to reconsider. (R. p. 200). In response to the motion, the HOA filed a Supplemental Affidavit of Steve Hunt which attached photographs of the cabling and the internet boxes in the storage room. (R. pp. 206-210). Hunt stated:

The current wiring for internet and television service runs to all condominiums through storage closets on each floor of the Royal Garden Resort. This wiring has

been in place since Royal Garden Resort was constructed in the 1980s and used for television service. Royal Garden Resort is simply replacing old equipment--nothing else. (R. p. 206).

Hunt further testified that only communication boxes would be replaced and there would be no ripping out of any wiring and no damage would be done to any storage closets by any HTC employees. (R. p. 206). Hunt stated this work was being performed pursuant to an express written easement in the Master Deed and that the work would provide the homeowners with upgraded premium television and internet service. Further Hunt opined, "the wiring and boxes will not interfere with the use of storage closets and will only replace certain equipment." (R. p. 207).

In light of Hunt's Affidavit, the circuit court properly declined to grant Defendant's motion for reconsideration.

F. Affidavit of Harold Outz.

The HOA also provided the Affidavit of Harold Outz, a former member of the Board of Directors of the HOA for over twenty years. Outz testified that the wiring and the cable systems had been in the storage closets since the construction of the resort. He also testified that he did not live at the resort and was not aware nor was he made aware by Donaldson that Article IX Section 2 of the Master Deed granted unlimited easements over Royal Garden Resort for water, gas sewer, telephones, and electricity including a television antenna system. (R. pp. 195-196)

II. ROYAL GARDEN RESORT HOA HAD THE RIGHT UNDER THE MASTER DEED TO ENTER THE STORAGE CLOSETS.

It is well settled under South Carolina condominium law that when an owner buys a condominium, he or she has actual knowledge of the master deed and thus agrees to its contents. In this case, when Royal Garden HOA was formed the owner of the property in fee simple declared the land subject to a master deed when he recorded it. See S.C. Code § 27-31-30 which states:

Whenever a lessee, sole owner, or the owners of property expressly declare through the recordation of a master deed or lease, which shall set forth the particulars enumerated in Section 27-31-100, their desire to submit their property to the regime established by this chapter, there shall thereby be established a horizontal property regime.

See also, *Egrets Pointe Townhouses Property Owners Assoc. v. Fairfield*, 870 F.Supp. 110 (1994) (in order to establish a horizontal property regime, the master deed must be recorded in compliance with Section 27-31-100 is mandatory.)

Further, Royal Garden Resort HOA had a legal duty to comply with the Master Deed and bylaws and it was its obligation to require Donaldson, Sea Breeze and Phoenix to abide by the Master Deed. See *Fisher v. Shipyard Village Council of Co-Owners, Inc.*, 409 S.C. 164, 760 S.E.2d 121, *cert. granted, affirmed as modified*, 415 S.C. 256, 781 S.E.2d 903 (2014) (a homeowners association is bound to follow its covenants and bylaws and cannot defend something that violates those documents on the basis that it is a reasonable alternative). Royal Garden HOA has a continuing statutory duty and a responsibility to make sure that its owners were provided with fast, reasonable, efficient and stable telephone, television and internet service. The HOA chose HTC as its provider and only desired to switch out cable boxes and some wiring. No damages would have been done to the interior of the storage units and the Master Deed specifically provided the HOA has an easement over the entire project. As a result, the Circuit Judge properly exercised his discretion to authorize the HOA to replace the boxes and wiring inside each of the storage units.

In sum, this court in reviewing the trial court is required to construe the Master Deed of Royal Garden Resort HOA and the affidavits under the “any evidence” standard of review. See *Felts v. Richland County*, 303 S.C. 354, 400 S.E.2d 781 (1991) and *Townes Assoc. Ltd. v. City of Greenville*, 266 S.C. 81, 221 S.E.2d 773 (1976). See also *Nationwide Mutual Fire Ins. Co. v. Walls*, 433 S.C. 206, 858 S.E.2d 150 (S.C. 2021) (reaffirming in an action at law the appellate court will not disturb

the trial court's finding of fact unless there is no evidence to reasonably support them). Accordingly, the trial court committed no error in allowing entry into the storage closets to "change out" equipment.

III. ROYAL GARDEN RESORT HOA HAD A UTILITY EASEMENT OVER THE ENTIRE PROPERTY.

As this brief indicates and as the filed Master Deed provides, Article IX, Section 2 of the Master Deed granted an unqualified, blanket easement for utilities over "all of the Property for ingress, egress, installations, replacing, repairing and maintaining a master television antenna system and all utilities including, but not limited to, water, gas, sewers, telephones and electricity." (R. p. 268).

In this case, the HOA was simply acting like a utility company in changing out the internet boxes. The HOA's authority allows it to replace wires and repair utilities for the benefit of all of the owners. The Master Deed gives the HOA this right to repair or replace the internet/TV cables. See *Simmons v. Berkeley Electric Coop.*, 404 S.C. 172, 744 S.E.2d 580 (Ct. App. 2013) (explaining that utility easement was first acquired when landowner granted a seventy-five feet-wide easement to the Berkeley County Electric for the construction and maintenance of an electric transmission line or lines, towers, poles, anchors and necessary fixtures and wires attached thereto...). See also *Leppard v. Central Carolina Telephone Co.*, 205 S.C. 1, 30 S.E.2d 755, 756 (1944) (State Highway Department had laid telephone lines after acquiring a "unqualified right-of-way"); *Richland County v. Palmetto Cablevision*, 261 S.C. 222, 199 S.E.2d 163 (1973) wherein our Supreme Court addressed the ability of a cable television provider to contract from the telephone company and power company for use of their poles and right of ways to lay cable. *Palmetto Cablevision* holds that cable television provider's use of the telephone and electric poles and rights-of-way was permissible. The *Palmetto Cablevision* Court noted that "the extent of the right-of-way is granted to these utilities (telephone, electric lighting and power utilities) is very broad." See *Leppard v. Central Carolina Telephone Co.*, 205 S.C. 1, 30 S.E.2d, 755 (1944). The *Palmetto Cablevision* Court also found "the stringing of

additional cables and leasing of new cable for newly conceived uses is clearly authorized by the same reasoning, the licensing of the defendant to string its cables on the existing poles of utilities is also authorized. *Palmetto Cablevision*, 199 S.C. at 173.

In *Gressette v. South Carolina Electric and Gas Co.*, 370 S.C. 377, 635 S.E.2d 538 (2006), the Supreme Court addressed whether SCE&G who had been conveying excess fiber optic capacity to third-party telecommunications companies without notice or compensation to the affected landowners, could apportion its allowed use to third parties under the terms of easements granted by the landowners. Because the parties agreed that the fiber optic cable lines were within the scope of the easement, the Court noted that “there is no real issue of an additional servitude.”

In this case, the Master Deed clearly provides the HOA the express authority to run cables, electric lines, sewer lines over the entire building akin to a utility provider. The cases described above support the HOA’s position that it had the unqualified absolute right to access these areas not to strip out or damage the storage closets, but to replace those lines for the benefit of all of the owners.

IV. THERE IS NO HARM CHANGING OUT INTERNET BOXES IN STORAGE CLOSETS.

The HOA merely sought to change out internet boxes in storage closets to provide better more cost-effective service. No damage would occur to Appellants’ property and no additional room was required to perform this routine upgrade. If an injunction was necessary or required in this case, which is denied, Appellants could not establish harm from the enforcement of this easement. On the other hand, the denial by Appellants to allow the HOA and its homeowners access to a utility created irreparable harm. Further, Appellants retained the absolute right to continue to sue Respondent for back rent based on their alleged illegal, duplicitous contract for the storage closets. In sum, the HOA has a valid legally recorded easement to enter the Appellants’ property and thus no injunction was

necessary for the Court in construing the Master Deed. *Murrells Inlet Corp. v. Ward*, 378 S.C. 225, 662 S.E.2d 452 (Ct. App. 2008).

V. A BOND IS NOT REQUIRED TO ENFORCE AN EASEMENT GRANTED IN A MASTER DEED.

The Appellants argue a bond is necessary in this case. However, a bond is not necessary to enforce a recorded express easement. In this case the HOA had a recorded Easement allowing it to run cable lines, water lines, electric lines and sewer lines over the entire HOA property. (R. p. 268). The HOA is simply exercising its legal right for the benefit of all the homeowners in changing out the cable boxes in the storage rooms pursuant to Article IX, Section 2 of the Master Deed. Just like public utilities that have easements for roads, electric lines, water and sewers, a bond is not necessary when legal rights derived from easements which are recorded in the Courthouse are enforced.

Appellants cite *Atwood Agency v. Black*, 374 S.C. 68, 646S.E.2d 882, 884 (2007) for the proposition that a bond is required. However, *Atwood* has no application here in that the HOA was simply asking the Court for declaratory relief regarding a filed easement in the Master Deed. The *Atwood* case does not deal with a filed easement in a Master Deed. It dealt with a prior employee allegedly stealing a homeowners list and using it to take business to a separate company. This, of course, was the subject of much dispute between the parties and the Supreme Court found that a nominal bond effectively decided the case before a trial.

In this case, there is no damage to Appellants by simply replacing cabling and internet boxes. Further, the Master Deed explicitly provides for such, and the HOA had a recorded easement pursuant to the Master Deed which allowed it to proceed. Under those circumstances a bond is not necessary in this case. This is especially true since the “status quo” is not affected by the HOA simply replacing existing internet boxes and cables with new internet boxes and cables.

VI. APPELLANTS' ARGUMENT THERE IS NO MASTER TELEVISION SYSTEM IS MISPLACED.